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MONTANA FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

9 LEWIS AND CLARK COUNTY 

10 ** •***** 
11 IN THE MATTER OF UNFAIR LABOR ) 

PRACTICE NO . 17-67 ) 
12 ) 

MONTANA PUBLIC EMPLOYEE~ ) 
13 ASSOCIATION, INC. , ) 

) 
14 Pe titioner, } 

15 
) 

-vs- ) cause No. CDV 88-757 

16 
) 

THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, ) Mf:MQBAtUH.!H AtH~ Qf.L!f:R 
HIGHWAY PATRO~ DIVISION, and ) 

17 BOARD OF PERSONNEL APPEALS , ) 

18 
) 

· Respondents. ) 

19 .. * * 'It '* '* * * 
20 MEHORANPUH 

21 I' 
Before the court is t~e petition of the Montana Public 

22 Employees Association (HPEA) for judicial review of a decision 

23 rendered by the Board of Personnel Appeals (Board). The matter 

24 has been fully b r iefed and argued and is ready for decision . 
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BACKGEO!JND 

on November 24, 19e6, Montana Highway Patrol Officers were 

notified by a memorandum from the Highway Patrol Division 

(Division) cf the Department of Ju£tice (Department) that 

because of budget reductions mandated by the legi£lature and the 

governor's b~dget office, the officers would be required to take 

three day£ off "''or}~ wi t!.0ut pay. Prior to issuance of the 

memorandum I Colonel Rob~J · Landon, Division Administrator 1 and 

Thoma~. Schneider, HPEA r . :cut i ve Director, had di£cussed the 

possible effects of the b ·! get cuts . No bargaining on the leave 

Wlthout pay deciEion, h c ~ever, had occurred prior to t he 

issuance of the memorandu~1 by the Division. Although HPEA did 

not receive official not:ce of the memorandum, Schneider's 

office becam~ aware of it shortly after it was sent to member 

officers . 

on December 9 1 1986, HPEA filed a grievance alleging that 

implementation of the leave without pay policy violated the 

parties' collective bargaining agreement. The grievance was 

processed under the contract and was taken ~o _arbitration. The 

arbitrator issued a decision on June 12, 1987, · in which he 

determined that ttie · Department's action did not violate the 

contract and, therefore, denied the grievance. The arbitrator 

did not consider the ' i£sue of whether the Department's action 

constituted a violation of the statutory duty to bargain in good 
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1 faith. 

2 On June 17, 1987, MPEA filed an unfair labor practice 

3 charge with the Board alleging violation of section 39-31-

4 401(5), HCA, which provides that, II It is an unfair labor 

5 practice for a public employer to: refuse to bargain 

6 collectively in good faith with an exclusive representative." 

7 on January 6, 1988, the hearing examiner issued his findings, 

8 conclusions, and recommended order in which he determined that 

9 the charge wa~ timely filed and that the Department had 

10 committed an unfair labor practice by unilaterally altering a 

11 worY.ing condition. The Department filed except ions to the: 

12 hearing . examiner's decision asserting error in the conclusion 

13 that the charge had been timely and asserting f~rther that MPEA · 

14 had clearly waived its right to bargain during the contract 

15 period. On August 23, 1988, the Board issued its final order 

16 which upheld the hearing examiner's determination regarding the 
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timeliness issue, but which rev~rsed on the issue of waiver. 

The Board found that Article 23 of the contract constituted a 

clear and unambiguous waiver of HPEA's right to bargain during 

the term of the agreement . On September 14, 1988, HPEA filed 

this petition seek{ng reversal or modification of the Board's 

order. 
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1 r•ISCUS SIQtJ 

2 I. Standards of Review. Section 39-31-105, MCA, states: 

3 u J..ll hearings: and appeals shall be in accordance with the 
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appropriate provisions of the Montana Administrative Procedure 

Act." 

sect1on 2-4-704(2), HCA, provides in part: 

The court may affirm the decision of the agency or 
remand the case for further proceedings . The court may 
reverse or modify the .decision if substantial rlghts 
of the appellant have been prejudiced because -the 
administrative finding~, inferences, conclusions, or 
decisions are:... (f) arbitrary or capricious or 
characterized by abuse ·of discret1on or clearly 
unwarran~ed exercise of discretion; .. . 

This case involves only questions of law: first, 

charge timely filed, and second, did Article 23 of 

t he 

the 

Collective Eargaining Agreement constitute a waiver of HPtA's 

right to bargain during the term of the agreement? 

In City of Billings v. Billings Firefjghters Local No. 521, 

651 P.2d 627, 632, (1982), the Montana supreme court stated: 

"Conclusions of law are subject· to an 'abuse of discretion' 

review." 

II. ·'Timel i ness of Filing of the Unfair Labor Practice 

Ch.:1rge . The Division contends that the unfair labor practice 
,' . 

charge was not filed within the statutory time limit. Sectiun 

39-31-404, MCA, provides: 

No notice of hearing shall be issued based upon 
any unfair labor practice more than 6 months before 
the filing of the charge Wlth the board unless the 
person aggrieved thereby was prevented from filing the 

4 



1 charge by reason of service in the armed forces, in 
\''hich event the 6-rnonth period shall be computed from 

2 the day of his discharge. 

3 Here, the memorandum informing the patrol officers of the 

4 irrpending time off without pay was sent the week of November 24, 

5 1986. Implementation of this directive did not occur until the 

6 fn·st week of January 1987. The unfair labor practice charge 

7 was filed on June 17, 1987. 

8 The Division argues that the November 24 memorandum 

9 provided actua 1 or cor.s t ructi ve not ice c·f the alleged unfair 

10 l2bor practice and that MPEA failed to file its charge within 

11 tte required six month period. 

12 Hontana•s Collective Bargaining Act, Section 39-31-101, et 

13 sea., MCA, is very sim1lar to the Nation~l Labor Relations Act,· 

14 29 u.s.c. SE-ction 141, et seg. (NLAA). Where these laws are 

15 similar, the Montana supreme court has approved and encouraged 

l6 the Board•s use of 11 federal administrative and judicial 
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construct ion" in the interpretation of the public employee 

collective bargaining law. 9ity of Creat Falls v. Y?ung, 41 st. 

Rep. 1174, 686 P.2d 185 (1984). 

The question here is whether the statutory time began to 

run when MPEA firi~ · learned of the November 24 memorandum or 

when patrol officers were actually required to take leave 

without pay in Januory 1987. In addressing the six month 

limitation found in the NLRA, the Ninth Circuit court of Appeal£ 
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1 ha£ held: "[N]otice of the intention to commit an unfair labor 

2 practice does not trigger section 10 (b)." Hat ion al Labor 

3 Re-lations Board v. International Brotherhood of Electric;l 

4 workers. Local Union 112. AFL-CIO, 827 F. 2d 530, 534 (9th Cir. 

· 5 1987). There the court agre~d with the boa1·d that the 

6 limitations period began to rur. . not when workers received 

7 reduction in force cards~ but ~ather, when those layoffs 

8 actually began to take effect. ·1ere I · as there I it was not 

9 inevitable that the Division w ld execute its intentions 

10 outlined in the rnemor an dum. Thu~: the 1 irni tat ions period did 
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not begin to run until the first p: trol officers took time off 

without pay in January 1987. 

III. poes Article 23 of the p;rties' Collective Bargaining· 

Agreement clearly waive MPEA's right to bargain during the term 

Qf_the agreement? Section 2-4-702, MCA, provides for judicial 

review of "a final decision in a contested ·case." Here, it is 

the decision of the Board which the Court must review. That 

decision turned on the issue of waiver rather than on whether 

the action of the Division actually constituted an unfair labor 

practice. 

review. 

This, therefore, is the issue which the Court must 

t 

Section 39-31-305(2), HCA, imposes upon public employers 

and the exclusive reptesentative of public employees the duty to 

bargain over certain i terns, including "wages, fringe 
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1 benet its, and other conditions of ernploymen t . ... " The Board 
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found that Article 23 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement 

constituted a waiver of HPEA's statutory right to bargain during 

the term of the agreement. 

Article 23 of the agreement provides: 

The parties acknowledge that during negotiat: ~ns 

which resulted in this Agreement, each had ; '.€: 

unl imi t~d right and opportunity to make demands i. 1d 
proposals with respect to any subject or matter n t 
removed by 1 aw from the are a of collective barga irLi ~ , 
and that the understandings and agreements arrived : : 
by the p.irties after the exercise of that right c. · 'i 
opportunity are set forth in this AgreemeJ.. 
There fore, the Employer and the Association for t 1 ~ 

duraticn of this Agreement, each voluntarily cl l 
unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees tti: 
the other shall not be obligated to barga1n 
coll ecti vel y with respect to any subject or rna t tc:·1· 
specifically referred to or covered. in this Agreement, 
or not specifically referred to or covered in this 
Agreement even though such subjects or matters may, or 
may not, have been within the knowledge or 
contemplation of either or both of the parties at the 
time they negotiated or signed this Agreement. This · 
Article shall not be construed to in ~ny way restrict 
the parties from commencing negotiations under the 
applicable law on any succeeding agreement to take 
effect upon termination of ~his Agreement. 

Federal circuit courts have recognized and followed the 

principle that a union may relinquish the . statutory right to 

bargain if, as a part of the barga1ning process, it elects to 

do so. such a relinquishment, however, must be in "clear and 

unmistakable-" language . Timken Roller Eearing Co . v . National 

Labor Relations Board~ 325 F.2d 746 at 751 (6th Cir. 1963). ltl 

its order the Board stated: 

The Board is well aware of NLRB, federal 
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appellate and state court decisions requiring precise 
language specifically waiving a particular r1ght to 
bargain before finding a waiver of that particular 
bargaining right. Those_ jurisdictions do not 
interpret general waivers such as zipper clauses as 
waiving specific bargaining rights. We disagree with 
this interpretation. 

Zipper clause waivers like the one at issue here 
are just as specific. The parties hav~ clearly waived 
their right to bargain regarding any subject matter, 
whether specifically referred to in the contract or 
never considered by either party. A waiver containing 
language whereby the parties clearly and unambiguously 
agree t.o waive any and all bargaining rights should be 
given effect. state v. Maine state Employees 
Association, 499 A.2d 1228 {1985) and NLRB v. southern 
Hat~rials Co., 477 (sic) F.2d 15 (4th Cir. 1971). 

In National Labor Relations Board v. southern Materials 

company, 447 F.2d 15 at 18 (4th Cir. 1971), the court considered 

a waiver clause that relieved the parties of t~e obligation to 

bargain collectively during the term of the contract not only 

with respect to matters found in the contract but also wi tl1 

respect to "subject matter. DQ! specifically referred to as 

covered in" the contract. The specific bargaining item at issue 

tr.ere was maintenance of a Christmas bonus. The court held that 

the: breadth of this clause constituted "clear. and unmistakable" 

language ·that a waiver was intended.· Other· courts have found 

11 Zipper clause" language 
/ . 

·substantially similar to that 
-

considered in Southern Materials, sypra, to be a waiver of the 

rights and obligations of the parties to bargain collectively 

during the term of the contract. ~ National Labor Relatl.ons 

25 Eocrd v. Allto crane co., 536 F.2d 310, (lOth Cir. 1976) (wage 
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1 increase and thrift plan), Aeronc~.Inc. v . National Laber 

2 Relati ons Bo ard , 650 F.2d 501, (4th Cir . 1981) (Christmas 

3 bonus), state v. Hains State Employees Association, 499 A.2d 

4 1228, (He. 1985) (state reorganization plan affecting Hages, 

5 hours, and working conditions}, and East Richland Edqc3tion 

6 A;; o ciation, IEA-NEA, y, Illinois Educaticmal Labor Relation~ 
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Board, 528 N.E.2d 751, {Ill. App. 4 ·oist . 1988) {change in 

school calendar). 

The Sixth Circuit Court o f Appeals, however, has held that 

"zipper c 1 e:uses" do not constitute a waiver of a union's 

statu tory l·ight to bargain over specific is sues. Federal 

C0mpress & Wa rehouse comp~ny v, National Laber Relat i on s Board, 

393 F.2d 631, (6th Cir. 1968) (inclusion and classification of 

certain employees within bargaining unit), National Labo r 

Rel a t ions Bo ard v. Pepsi-Cola Di~tributing Company of Knoxville. 

Tenn e ssee, Inc., 646 F.2d 1173, (6th Cir. 1981) (Christmas 

bonus} . In National Labor Relations Board v. Chall enge-CooY. 

Brothers of Ohio, Inc., . 843 F.2d 230, 233, (6th Cir. 1988) 

(effects of transfer of work from one plc:mt to another)' in 

analyzing language substantially similar to that in the case at 

bar the court stat~d: "le.'hen relying on a claim of waiver of a 

statutory duty to bargain, an employer has the burden of proving 

a clear relinquishmeht; silence in the collective bargaining 

agreement does not constitute a waiver. Nor do we construe the 
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.__ .. 

1 z 1pper clause as a clear re linqui shmen t . 11 Thus far I though 1 the 

2 Sixth Circuit court of Appeals appears to stand alone in finding 

3 that a broadly worded "zipper c 1 a us: e 11 does not constitute a 

4 wotver of statutory bargaining rights. 

5 The court cases cited by HPEA are distinguishable in that 

6 while they stand for the · principle that waiver of a collectiv( 

7 bargaining right must be in "clear and unmistakable" contract 

8 language 1 none of them specifically construe the impact of c 

9 br0adly worded "zippe::- clause." 

10 For this court to reverse the Board I would have to find 

11 an abuse of discretion. Given the authority cited above, I am 

12 unable to find that the Board abused its discretion . 
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.. 
Pursuant to Section 2-4-704 1 MCA, and a review of the 

r<cord here, the decis~ of the ~-d is AFFIRMED. 

DATED this RJ day of 7 ,1989-

pc: David w. Stiteler 
Melanie A. Synfons 

vClay R. Smith 
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STATE ·'oi' MbNTANA 
BOARD OF PERSONNEL APPEALS 

MONTANA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES 
ASSOCIATION, INC., 

Complainant, 

vs. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, ) 
HIGHWAY PATROL DIVISION, ) 

Defendant. 
) 
) 

FINAL ORDER 

* * * * * * * * * * * * 

PROCEDURE 

Montana Public Employees Association, Inc., filed an unfair 

labor practice charge with the Board of Personnel Appeals on June 

17, 1987. The complainant alleged that the Department of 

Justice, Highway Patrol Division, violated section 39-31-401(5), 

MCA, by unilaterally altering a substantial condition of 

employment (hours of work). The Department's response of June 

26, 1987, denied the allegations and requested that the charge 

be dismissed as untimely. 

A hearing was held before hearing examiner Arlyn L. Plowman, 

following which post-hearing briefs were filed. The hearing 

examiner, in Findings, Conclusions and Recommended Order dated 

January 6, 1988, determined the charge was timely filed and that 

the Department of Justice engag,~d in an unfair labor practice. 
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The Department of Justice filed Exceptions to the Order 

on January 25, 1988. The exceptions pertinent to this 

determination are 1) whether the unfair labor practice charge was 

filed in a timely manner; and 2) whether the complainant clearly 

and unequivocally waived its right to bargain during the term of 

the collective bargaining agreement. Briefs were filed and oral 

argument heard before the Board of Personnel Appeals on Friday, 

February 12, 1988. 

ORDER 

Upon reviewing the record and considering the briefs and 

oral arguments, the Board orders as follows: 

1. The Board affirms all factual findings of the hearing 

examiner except Finding #11. Finding #11 is deleted in its 

entirety and replaced with the following: 

"11. The collective bargaining agreement contains the 

following waiver, commonly known as a "zipper clause'•: 

The parties acknowledge that during 
nego tiations which resulted in this 
Agreement, each had the unlimited right and 
opportunity to make demands and proposals 
with respect to any subject or matter not 
removed by law from the area of collective 
bargaining, and that the understandings and 
agreements arrived at by the parties after 
the exercise of that right and opportunity 
are set f o rth in this Agreement. There­
fore, the Employer and the Association for 
the duration of this Agreement, each 
voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the 
right, and each agrees that the othe r shall 
not be obligated to bargain collectively 
with . rcspcct to any subject or matter 
specifically referred to or covered in this 
Agreement, or not specifically referred to or 
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covered in this Agreement, even though such 
subjects or matters may, or may not, have 
been within the knowledge or contemplation 
of either or both of the parties at the time 
they negotiated or signed this Agreement. 
This Article shall not be construed to in 
any way restrict the parties from commencing 
negotiations under the applicable law on any 
succeeding agreement to take effect upon 
termination of this Agreement. 

Article 23 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement." 

2. The Board affirms Conclusions of Law 1, 2, 3 and 4. 

3. The Board unanimously affirms the result of Conclusion 

#5, the unfair labor practice charge was timely filed. However, 

the rationale behind the Board's conclusion differs significantly 

from that of the hearing examiner. The discussion of the hearing 

examiner is replaced with the following discussion: 

''Pursuant to Section 39-31-404, MCA, a complainant generally 

has six months from the time of the unfair labor practice in 

which to file its charge. There are several different tests 

which can be used to determine when the six month statute of 

limitations should commence. The test of preference, at least 

with respect to these facts, is the test under which the statute 

commences to run upon the receipt of actual notice of the unfair 

labor practice. 

"The concept of actual notice is subject to various 

22 interpretations. The critical point is when the action which 

23 comprises the unfair labor practice becomes 11 unconditional and 

24 unequivocal." Although there are cases to the contrary, NLRB v. 

25 IBEW Local 112, 126 LRRM 2292 (CA 9 1987), and American Distri-
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buting Co. v. NLRB, 715 F.2d 446 (9th Cir. 1983), best exemplify 

the position of this Board. 

''NLRB v. IBEW Local 112, supra, questions whether the 

statute of limitations is triggered when reduction of force cards 
4 

are mailed or when actual layoffs occur. The Board adopted the 
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date of actual layoff because the ROF cards did not provide 

unequivocal notice to workers that their rights were being 

violated. It was not inevitable at the time of the ROF cards 

were issued that layoffs would occur. 

"American Distributing Co. v. NLRB, supra, is consistent 

with IBEW Local 112. It concerns an employer's discontinuation 

of contributions to the pension trust fund. The employer 

initially warned during collective bargaining agreement 

negotiations that when the bargaining agreement expired, 

contributions would no longer be made. Near the expiration of 

the bargaining agreement, in February or March, the employer 

reiterated its stance. Union representatives did not learn until 

November that employer contributions ceased May 1st. The 

Administrative Law Judge and the Ninth Circuit found actual 

notice triggering the six month statute could not occur until 

after the employer ceased contributing. Therefore, the charge 

filed in December was timely. 

"Analagously, actual notice did not occur here until after 

the first implementation of the leave without pay policy. Prior 

to that time, the employer's position was revocable. Thus, 
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actual notice occurred when the Highway Patrol Division required 

the first employee to take a day's leave without pay. The first 

day of leave without pay was during the first week of January, 

1987. The charge was filed five and one-half months later, June 

17, 1987. The charge was timely filed." 

4. The Board's determination in #5 below that the 

complainant clearly and unequivocally waived its right to bargain 

over any subject matter renders Conclusions of Law #6 and #7 

irrelevant. 

5. The Board reverses Conclusion of Law #8, regarding 

whether the complainant waived its right to bargain over the 

Department of Justice's policy that certain highway patrol 

officers be required to take three days leave without pay. 

The hearing examiner's Conclusion of Law #8 is struck and 

replaced with the following Conclusion of Law #6: 

"Article 23 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement consists 

of a waiver of bargaining rights. It is a waiver of the type 

commonly referred to as a 'zipper clause'. The waiver contains 

language by which the parties clearly and unambiguously waive 

their rights to bargain over anything, including compulsory 

bargaining subjects such as layoffs, hours of work and work 

schedules. 

Therefore, the Employer and the Association 
for the duration of this Agreement, each 
voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the 
right, and each agrees that the other shall 
not be obligated to bargain collectively with 
respect to any subject or matter 
specifically referred to or covered in this 
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Agreement, or not specifically referred to or 
covered in this Agreement, even though such 
subjects or matters may, or may not, have 
been within the knowledge or contemplation of 
either or both of the parties at the time 
they negotiated or signed this Agreement. 

"The Board is well aware of NLRB, federal appellate and 

state court decisions requiring precise language specifically 

waiving a particular right to bargain before finding a waiver of 

that particular bargaining right. Those jurisdictions do not 

interpret general waivers such as zipper clauses as waiving 

specific bargaining rights. We disagree with this 

interpretation. 

"Zipper clause waivers like the one at issue here are just 

as specific. The parties have clearly waived their right to 

bargain regarding any subject matter, whether specifically 

referred to in the contract or never considered by either party. 

A waiver containing language whereby the parties clearly and 

unambiguously agree to waive any and all bargaining rights should 

be given effect. State v. Maine State Employees Association, 499 

A.2d 1228 (1985) and NLRB v. Southern Materials Co., 477 F.2d 15 

(4th Cir. 1971)." 

6. Conclusion of Law ~9 remains unchanged and becomes 

Conclusion of Law #7. 

7. Conclusions of Law #10 and #11 are struck as irrelevant 

23 and unnecessary. 

24 

25 
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8. New Conclusion of Law #8 shall state: "The complainant 

has failed to prove its case by a preponderance of the 

evidence." 

9. New Conclusion of Law #9 shall state: "Since the 

complainant, in its zipper clause, clearly and unmistakenly 
5 

waived its right to bargain over any matter, including layoffs 
6 

and reductions in hours, the Department of Justice was not 
7 

required to engage in bargaining over its decision to ·impose 
8 

three days leave without pay on various highway patrolmen. 
9 

Therefore, no unfair labor practice occurred." 
10 
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10. The Recommended Order of the hearing examiner is struck 

in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

''The Unfair Labor Practice Charge No. 17-87, although t imely 

filed, is dismissed as no unfair labor charge occurred." 

DATED this 23rd day of August , 1988 . 

BOARD OF PERSONNEL APPEALS 
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August, 1988: 

David · Stiteler 
Staff Attorney 
Montana Public Employees Association 
P.O. Box 5600 
Helena, MT 59604-5600 

Clay Smith 
Assistant Attorney General 
Justice Building 
215 North Sanders 
Helena, MT 59620-1401 

that a true and correct 
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IN THE MATTER OF UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE CHARGE NO. 17-87 

MONTANA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES 
ASSOCIATION, INC., 

Complainant, 
vs. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

FINDINGS; CONCLUSIONS; 
AND RECONMEND.ED ORDER 

THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 
HIGHWAY PATROL DIVISION, 

Defendant. 

* * * * * * * * * * 
INTRODUCTION 

A hearing on the above-captioned rna tter was held on 

November 2, 1 987 in the first floor conference room of the 

Department o f Labo r and Indus try Building in Helena, Mon-

tana. Arlyn L. Plowman was the duly appointed hearing 

examiner for the Board of Personnel Appeals. The Complain-

ant was represented by attorney David Stiteler. The Defen-

dant was represen~ed by Assistant Attorney General Clay 

Smith. The parties presented testimony and evidence, 

c ross-examined witnesses and offered argument. Subsequent 

to the hearing the parties filed post-hearing briefs and the 

matter was deemed submitted on November 23, 1987. 
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BACKGROUND 

On June 17, 1987 the Complainant filed, .with the Board 

of Personnel Appeals, an Unfair Labor Practice Charge 

alleging that the Defendant violated Section 39-31-401 (5) 

MCA by unilaterally altering a substantial condition of 

employment (i.e. hours of work) when the Defendant reduced 

the hours of work of highway patrol officers, requiring each 

officer to take three days of leave without pay. 

On June 26, 1987 the Defendant filed a timely response 

denying the allegations contained within the Complainant • s 

charge and further requested that the charge be dismissed as 

untimely. 

On June 30, 1987 Joseph V. Maronick was appointed to 

investigate this matter pursuant to Section 39-31-405 ( 1) 

HCA. 

On August 14, 1987 Investigator Maronick issued a 

report and recommendation in which he found probable merit 

for the Complainant's charge. 

Subsequently, Arlyn L. Plowman was appointed hearing 

examiner and the matter was noticed for hearing. 

FINDINGS 

1 . At all relevant times the Defendant recognized the 

Complainant as the exclusive collective bargaining represen­

tative for certain highway patrol officers. 
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2. At all relevant times there existed, between the 

Con~lainant and Defendant, a collective bargaining agreement 

covering the terms and conditions of employment for certain 

highway patrol officers. 

3. That collective bargaining agreement contained 

provisions dealing with seniority 1 layoffs, and a griev­

ance/arbitration procedure culminating in binding arbitra­

tion. 

4. Throughout the fiscal years 1985-86 and 1986-87 

the Department of Justice was subjected to a series of 

budget reductions. The Highway Patrol Division of the 

Department of Justice met those budget reductions, in large 

part, by reducing nonsalary personnel costs and deferring 

replacement of patrol cars. 

5. On November 12, 1986 the Governor's office direct­

ed further budget reductions. 

6. Due to concerns about the potential effects of 

this additional (November 12) budget reduction, the Com-

Thomas Schneider, 

Col one 1 Robert 

plainant 1 s executive director, 

the Defendant 1 s administrator 1 

met with 

Landon. 

During that meeting Schneider and Landon discussed. the 

additional budget reduction and its effect on the highway 

patrol officers represented by the Complainant, and whether 

those officers would be spared the required leaves without 
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pay as had previously been mandated for other Department of 

Justice employees. Landon told Schneider that·· his recommen­

dation would be that the highway patrol officers represented 

by the Complainant again be spared from mandatory leaves 

without pay. 

7. Subsequent to that meeting the Defendant issued a 

memorandum on November 24, 1986 requiring, that due to 

budget reductions, all highway patrol employees take three 

days leave without pay, one day per month during January, 

February, and March, 1987. 

8 • For management reasons the Defendant chos~ to 

implement the mandatory three days leave without pay in lieu 

of a reduction in force invoking the seniority and layoff 

provisions of the collective bargaining agreement. 

9 . The Complainant was not advised of the Defendant's 

decision to implement the mandatory three days leave without 

pay prior to the issuance of the November 24, 1986 memoran­

dum. The Complainant did not receive a copy of the November 

24, 1986 memorandum until the following week. 

10. Schneider and Landon, representatives of the 

Complainant and Defendant, had discussed the possibility of 

highway patrol officers being required to take leave without 

pay. However, prior to the November 24, 1986 memorandum, no 

bargaining over that possibility occurred, nor was the 
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Complainant afforded an opportunity t o bargain over the 

mandatory three days leave without pay req~ired by the 

November 24, 1986 memorandum. 

11. The collective bargaining agreement contains no 

clear and unequivocal language wherein the Complainant . 

waived its right to bargain over mandatory leaves without 

pay. Although, the parties spent considerable time and 

effort, after the fact, during their 1987 negotiations on 

this issue; the record does not show that in the parties' 

prior bargaining the Complainant conscientiously yielded or 

clearly and unmistakably waived its interest rega rding 

mandatory leaves without pay. 

12. The Complainant filed a timely grievance alleging 

that the Defendant's requirement that highway patrol offi-

cers take three days leave without pay violated the collec-

tive bargaining agreement. That grievance was processed 

through the grievance/arbitration procedure to arbitration. 

13. The arbitrator's award was issued June 12, 1987. 1 

In that award the arbitrator dismissed the Complainant's 

grievance. 

1
That arbitrator's award along with associated exhibits 

and post-hearing briefs were submitted and made a part of 
the record in this matter. 
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Board of Personnel Appeals has jurisdiction in 

this matter pursuant to Section 39-31-405 et seq., MCA. 

2. Pursuant to Section 39-31-401 MCA it is an unfair 

labor practice for a public employer to refuse to bargain 

collectively in good faith with an exclusive representative. 

Good faith bargaining is defined in Section 39-31-305 ( 2) 

MCA. 

3. The Montana Supreme Court has approved the prac-

tice of the Board of Personnel Appeals in using federal 

court and National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) precedence 

as guidelines interrupting the Montana Collective Bargaining 

for Public Employees Act as the State Act is so similar to 

2 the Federal Labor Management Relations Act, State ex rel 

Board of Personnel Appeals v. District Court, 183 Mont. 223 

(1979), 598 P.2d 1117, 103 LRRM 2297; Teamsters Local No. 45 

v. State ex rel Board of Personnel Appeals, 195 Mont. 272 

(1981), 635 P.2d 1310, 110 LRRM 2012; City of Great Falls v. 

Young (III), 686 P.2d 185 (1984) 119 LRRM 2682. 

2The Defendant's post-hearing brief points out that 
certain language found in the Federal Act is absent from the 
State Act. Those omissions have been no ted. 

- 6 -



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

4. Pursuant to Section 39-31-406 MCA the Complain­

ant's case must be established by a preponderance of the 

evidence before an unfair labor practice may be found, Board 

of 'l'rustees v. State of t-1ontana, 103 LRRM 3090, 604 P. 2d 770 

(1979); See also Indiana Products v. NLRB, 31 LRRM 2490, 202 

F.2d 613, CA 7 (1953) and NLRB v. Kaiser Aluminum and Chemi­

cal Corporation, 34 LRRM 2412, 217 F.2d 366, CA 9 (1954). 

5. Pursuant to Section 39-31-404, MCA no Notice of 

Hearing shall be issued upon any unfair labor practice more 

than six months before the filing of the charge with the 

Board of Personnel Appeals. 

The Defend~nt cites, in its post-hearing brief, a NLRB 

decision, U. S. Postal Service 271 NLRB 61 (1984), 116 LRRM 

1417 and argues that the Complainant's complaint ought to be 

dismissed as untimely. In U. S. Postal Service; Supra) the 

NLRB focused upon the date of the unlawful act, rather than 

on the date it's consequences became effective. That Board 

later reviewed that decision in IATSE Local 659, 276 NLRB 91 

(1985), 120 LRRM 1135 and U. S. Postal Service, 285 NLRB 98 

(1987), 126 LRRM 1138. In these decisions the NLRB deter­

mined that (six month) limitation period commences when. the 

final adverse employment decision is made and communicated. 

In any event, the (six month) limitation period does 

not begin to run until the party filing the charge receives 
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actual notice that an unfair labor practice has occurred. 

Notice of the intention to commit an unfair labor practice 

does not trigger the (six month) limitation period, NLRB v. 

IBEW Local No. 112 (Fischbach/Lord Electric Company), 126 

LRRH 2292, CA 9 (1987); American Distributing Company v. 

NLRB, 115 LRRM 2046, 715 F2d 446, CA 9 (1983). 

The parties in this matter had within their collective 

bargaining agreement a grievance/arbitration procedure. 

Under certain circumstances, were such grievance/arbitration 

procedures exist, it has been the practice of the NLRB and 

Board of Personnel Appeals to ·defer to the griev­

ance/arbitration procedure, Collyer Insulated Wire, 192 NLRB 

150 (1971}, 77 LRRM 1931 and Forsman, IAFF Local 436 v. 

Anaconda-Deer Lodge County, ULP 44-81 (1982). 

Such a deferral to the grievance/arbitration procedure 

takes time. The (six month) limitation period should be 

tolled from the initiation of the dispute resolution process 

in the grievance/arbitration procedure until that process 

has reached a finality. See Gause v. North Carolina Ship­

ping Association, Inc., 126 LRRM 2913, DC NC (1987). 

Pursuant to the foregoing, the (six month) limitation 

period in this instance would not have commenced until the 

final adverse decision was made and implemented. That 
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adverse employment decision was not final until the arbitra­

tor's award was received. 

The NLRB decisions in U. S. Postal Service, supra, 

relate to unfair labor practice charges alleging discrimina­

tion and that Board is there making a determination as to 

the timeliness of charges relating to a single adverse 

employment action. At issue here is a charge alleging a 

failure to bargain with continuing violations, NLRB -----v. 

White Construction Company, 32 LRRM 2198, 204 F2d 950, CA 5 

(1953). The (six month) limitation period does not bar 

unfair labor pra~tice charges alleging continui~g viola­

tions, Sevako v. Anchor Motor Freight, Inc., .122 LRRM 3316, 

792 F2d 570 CA 6 (1986); American Mirror Company, 269 NLRB 

188 (1984), 116 LRRM 1048; Enterprise Products Company, 265 

NLRB 83 (1982) I 112 LRRM 1412. 

The complaint was filed well within six months of the 

receipt of the arbitrator's award and within six months of 

the last day (during March 1987) the affected highway patrol 

officers were required to take leave without pay. 

complaint was filed timely. 

The 

6. An employer violates its duty to bargain collec-

tively in good faith when it institutes a material change in 

the terms and conditions of employment that are compulsory 

subjects of bargaining without giving the exclusive 
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bargaining representative both reasonable notice and an 

opportunity to negotiate about the proposed change. See 

Felbro, Inc., (Garment \~orkers Local 512) v. NLRB, 122 LRRM 

3113, 795 F2d 705, CA 9 (1986) i NLRB v. Carbonex Coal 

Company, 110 LRRM 2567, 697 F2d 200 CA 10 (1982). 

Layoffs are a compulsory subject of bargaining, see 

NLRB v. Advertisers Manufacturing Company, 125 LRRM 3024, CA 

7 (1987); NLRB v. Sandpiper Convalescent Center, 126 LRRM 

2204, CA 4 (1987); NLRB v. United Nuclear Corporation, 66 

LRRM 210 1, 3 81 F 2d 9 7 2 I CA 1 0 ( 19 6 7) • 

Hours of work and work schedules are compulsory sub-

jects for bargaining, see Florida Steel v. NLRB, 101 LRRM 

2671, 235 NLRB 129, CA 4 (1979); Meatcutters v. Jewel Tea, 

59 LRRM 2376, 381 U. S. 676 (1965); Dow Chemical Company, 

10 2 LRRM 119 9 I 2 4 4 NLRB 12 9 ( 19 7 9) • 

The Defendant violated it's Section 39-31-401 MCA duty 

to bargain collectively in good faith with the Complainant 

when it unilaterally changed the terms and conditions of 

employment for certain highway patrol officers by requiring 

that those officers take three days of leave without pay. 

Further, the Defendant did not afford the Complainan~ a 

meaningful opportunity to bargain regarding the requirement 
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that the affected officers take three days leave without 

3 pu.y. 

7. The Montana Collective Bargaining for Public 

Employees Act at Section 39-31-303 (3) reserves to public 

employers the right to relieve employees from duties because 

lack of work or funds. 

While the Montana Collective Bargaining for Public 

Employees Act reserves to employers the right to relieve 

employees from duties because of a lack of work or f~nds, 

that same Act requires that public employers bargain collec-

tive ly in good faith with the affected employees' bargaining 

representative regarding the effects of the public employ-

er's decision to relieve employees from their duties. 

8. Waiver of a collective bargaining right may only 

be established by "clear and unmistakable" evidence that the 

party intentionally yielded it's right. Equivocal, ambigu-

ous language in a bargaining agreement is insufficient to 

demonstrate waiver, NLRB v. General Tire and Rubber, 122 

3 
Whether the Defendant's actions constituted a layoff 

(reduction in force) or a change in work schedule (reduction 
in hours) is a distinction of little consequence here. It 
may very well be a distinction without a difference since in 
either case the end result is the same: both result in a 
change involving a compulsorily subject of bargaining with 
the affected officers losing work time and earnings. 
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LRRM 3152, 795 F2d 585, CA 6 (1986). Such a waiver will not 

lightly be inferred in the absence o f clear a~o unequivocal 

language. Where an employer relies on a purported waiver to 

establish its freedom unilaterally to change terms and 

conditions of employment not contained in the collective 

bargaining agreement, the matter at issue must h.ave been 

fully discussed and conscientiously explored during negotia­

tions and the union must have conscientiously yielded or 

clearly and unmistakably waived it's interest in the matter, 

Rockwell International Corporation, 109 LRRM 1366, 260 NLRB 

153 (1982). 

The Complainant cannot be held to have waived bargain­

ing over a change that was presented as though it was a fact 

or deed already accomplished, NLRB v. National Car Rental 

System, 109 LRRM 2832, 672 F2d 1182, CA 3 (1982); Gulf 

States Manufacturing, Inc., v. NLRB, 113 LRRM 2789, 704 F2d 

13 9 0 , CA 5 ( 1 9 8 3 ) . 

The Complainant had not waived its right to bargain 

regarding the Defendant's policy that certain highway patrol 

officers be required to take three days leave without pay. 

9. The arbitrator's award is dispositive of the 

contractual dispute and that award stands insofar as it does 

not conflict with the law, see United Paperworkers Interna­

tional Union v. Misco, Inc., 126 LRRM 3113, U. S. Supreme 
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Court, 12-1-87 , 86-651; AT & T Technologies v . C W A, 121 

LRRM 3329, 475 U.S. 643 (1986); and Postal · Work~rs v. Postal 

Service, 1 22 LRRM 2094, 789 F2d 1, CA DC (1986). 

The arbitrator's award is not dispositive of the 

allegation that the Defendant committed an unfair labor 

practice, see Ne vins v. NLRB, 122 LRRM 3147, 796 F2d 14, CA 

2 (1986); Taylor v. NLRB, 122 LRRM 2084, 786 F2d 1516, CA 11 

(1986); Grand Rapids Die Casting v. NLRB, 126 LRRM 2747, CA 

6 (1987). 

Arbitration following an employer's effectuation of a 

change in a term or condition of employment does not serve 

as a substitute for bargaining over whether . such a change 

should be impleme nted in the first place, NLRB v. Merrill 

and Ring, Inc., 116 LRRM 2221, 731 F2d 605, CA 9 (1984). 

10. Pursuant to Section 39-31-406 MCA if, upon the 

preponderance of the testimony taken, 

opinion that the Defendant named in 

engaged in an unfair labor practice 

the Board is of the 

the complaint has 

it shall state it s 

findings and issue an order requiring the Defendant to cease 

and desist from the unfair labor practice and to take such 

affirmative action as will effectuate the policies of ,the 

Montana Collective Bargaining for Public Employees Act. 

11. A remedy or affirmative action cannot be fashioned 

on the basis of an assumption as to what the Complainant and 
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Defendant would have agreed to absent the . Defendant's 

failure to bargain in good faith, Gulf States Manufacturing, 

Inc., v. NLRB, 114 LRRM 2727, 715 F2d 1020, CA 5 (1983). 

In developing remedies for specific situations there 

must be an attempt to create a restora tion of the situation 

as nearly as possible, to that which would have obtained but 

for the unfair labor practice (status quo ante), NLRB v. 

Keystone Consolidated Industries, 107 LRRM 3143, 653 F2d 

304, CA 7 (1981); Southwest Forest Industries, 121 LRRM 

1158, 278 NLRB 31 (1986); St. John's General Hospital v. 

NLRB, 125 LRRM 3463, CA 3 (1987). 

In view of the Defendant's violations of its duty to 

bargain collectively in good faith, the Defendant mu s t 

restore the situation to status quo ante. In order to do so, 

the Defendant must make the affected highway patrol officers 

whole and then, bargain collectively in good faith with the 

Complainant regardi~g the effects of any decision to relieve 

employees, represented by the Complainant, from their 

duties. 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

It is hereby ordered that after this Order becomes 

final, the Defendant, Department of Justice, Highway Patrol 

Division, it's officers, agents, and representatives shall: 
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1. Cease and desist from refusing to bargain collec­

tively in good faith with the Complainant as to wages, 

hours, and other conditions of employment for certain 

highway patrol officers for whom the Complainant is the 

recognized collective bargaining representative. 

2. Cease and desist from unilaterally changing the 

terms and conditions of employment, which are compulsory 

subjects of bargaining, for certain highway patrol officers 

for whom the Complainant is the recognized collective 

bargaining representative. 

3. The Defendant must take affirmative action to 

effectuate the purposes of the Montana Collective Bargaining 

for Public Employees Act and restore the status quo ante; 

a) rescind the unilateral action which 

required that certain officers of the 

Highway Patrol, for whom the Complainant 

was and is the recognized Collective 

Bargaining Representative, take three 

days leave without pay: 

b) make whole those officers of the Highway 

Patrol, for whom the Complainant was and 

is the recognized Collective Bargaining 

Representative, and who were required to 
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c) 

take three days leave without pay as a 

result of the Defendant's unilateral 

action in violation of the Defendant's 

duty to bargain collectively and in good 

faith; 

such highway patrol officers are to be 

made whole by repaying them for all lost 

wages and benefits they would have 

received had they not been required to 

take three days leave without pay. 

4. Once the status quo ante has been restored the 

Defendant shall grant the Complainant a meaningful 

opportunity to bargain collectively regarding the effects of 

any decision to relieve highway patrol officers, represented 

by the Complainant, from their duties. 

5. The Defendant shall notify this Board in writing 

within twenty {20) days what steps have been taken -to comply 

with this Order. 

SPECIAL NOTICE 

Exceptions to these Findings and Conclusions and this 

Recommended Order may be filed within twenty (20) days of 

service thereof. If no exceptions are filed the Recommended 
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.· 
Order shall become the Final Order of the Board of Personnel 

Appeals. Address exceptions to the Board • of Personnel 

Appeals, P. 0. Box 1J28, Helena, MT · 596024. 

Dated this~~~y of January, 1988. 

ALS 

Arlyn 
Hearing Examiner 
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